No. 75,209

### In The

Supreme Court of Florida -TED HERRING, MAR 9 1320 Appellant, FLEEK, MALLER COULT -vs.-Bita Degusy Ciorte

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE BY THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JON M. WILSON

FOLEY & LARDNER, VAN DEN BERG, GAY, BURKE, WILSON & ARKIN 111 North Orange Avenue Suite 1800 Orlando, Florida 32802 (407) 423-7656

JEREMY G. EPSTEIN DENNIS P. ORR DAVID SOROKOFF ALAN S. GOUDISS

SHEARMAN & STERLING 153 East 53rd Street New York, New York 10022 (212) 848-4000

Attorneys for Appellant

#

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020, 98 L. Ed.2d 681, 108 S. Ct. 733 (1988), this Court explicitly acknowledged that the application of Florida's heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance in <u>Herring v. State</u>, 446 So. 2d 1049 (Fla.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 989, 83 L. Ed.2d 330, 105 S. Ct. 396 (1984), was erroneous. This Court stated that "[s]ince we conclude that 'calculation' consists of a careful plan or prearranged design, we recede from our holding in <u>Herring v.</u> State, 446 So. 2d 1049, 1057 (Fla.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 989 (1984), to the extent it dealt with this question." 511 So. 2d at 533. Herring's death sentence was based on what this Court now recognizes to be a clearly inapplicable aggravating circumstance. Herring thus stands sentenced under an interpretation of that aggravating circumstance that applies to no other death-sentenced defendant; it applies to him, and him alone. The United States Supreme Court has made clear that any capital sentencing scheme in which cases where the death penalty is applied are indistinguishable from cases where it is not, is unconstitutional. If the Florida capital sentencing scheme is to survive constitutional scrutiny, Herring's death sentence must be vacated.

This appeal raises a second defect in Herring's sentence. Relying on this Court's decision in <u>Harich v.</u> <u>State</u>, 542 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 1989), Herring moved to vacate his conviction on the ground that his appointed trial counsel had a conflict of interest arising from his connection with law enforcement authorities. Herring's trial counsel, like Harich's, was Howard Pearl, who was simultaneously a public defender in Volusia County and a special deputy sheriff in adjoining Marion County. This Court was sufficiently troubled by that dual status in <u>Harich</u> to remand for an evidentiary hearing; it also observed that "it may be that this issue could not have been discovered previously through due diligence and that, as a consequence, our procedural default rule would be inapplicable." 542 So. 2d at 981.

In summarily denying Herring's motion, the trial court disregarded the <u>Harich</u> opinion in two crucial respects: it denied Herring a hearing, and it held (without making any factual findings) that Herring could have raised this issue at trial. The trial court ruled against Herring based on findings made in the <u>Harich</u> case, thus making an unprecedented -- and entirely improper -- use of collateral estoppel principles. On this issue, Herring, like Harich, is entitled at least to a remand for an evidentiary hearing.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. Factual Background

Early on May 29, 1981, a 7-Eleven store clerk in Daytona Beach, Florida was shot and killed during a robbery at the store. His body was discovered shortly thereafter. R.O.A. at 10.\* The Medical Examiner concluded that the cause of death had been a bullet wound to the head, that the victim had been shot twice, that both shots were fired within approximately one minute, and that the shot to the head was lethal. R.O.A. at 10. There were no witnesses to the crime and the murder weapon was never found. R.O.A. at 11.

On the morning of June 12, 1981, Herring was arrested while in possession of a stolen car. R.O.A. at 11. After hours of interrogation about matters that ranged far

\* "R.O.A." refers to the Record on Appeal.

beyond auto theft, Herring confessed to the robbery and homicide at the 7-Eleven store. R.O.A. at 11. The confession was tape recorded. R.O.A. at 11. Herring stated that he entered the 7-Eleven store early on the morning of May 29. After requesting a pack of cigarettes, he drew a gun and demanded money. The clerk then made a sudden move, causing Herring to panic and shoot. The shooting was not intentional and was certainly not planned. Herring stated in his confession: "I shot him, you know, by mistake, but I meant to just put the gun to his head not for it to go off." R.O.A. at 11-12.

All of the surrounding circumstances indicated that the shooting was an accident. The State offered no evidence to refute Herring's statement that he shot the clerk "by mistake." In his confession, Herring admitted to four other armed robberies in the same time period; he never fired his gun or harmed anyone during any of these incidents. Prior to his arrest, he had never been convicted, or even accused, of any violent crime. IQ tests performed during his childhood yielded a score of 72, indicating borderline mental retardation.

Howard Pearl, an Assistant Public Defender in Volusia County and Chief of the Capital Division, was appointed as Herring's trial counsel. R.O.A. at 103. At the same time he was representing Herring, Pearl also was

serving as a special deputy sheriff in Marion County, a position he had held for approximately 15 years. R.O.A. at 103. Pearl never told Herring of his dual responsibilities, and thus concealed a conflict of interest that is clearly condemned under Florida law. R.O.A. at 105-06.

B. <u>Procedural Background</u>

### 1. The Trial and Sentence

In February 1982, Herring was tried for armed robbery and murder in the first degree arising out of the May 29, 1981 incident. <u>State of Florida v. Herring</u>, Case No. 81-1957-CC. On February 25, 1982, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on both counts. R.O.A. at 12.

The sentencing phase of Herring's trial was held on February 26, 1982, immediately following the conclusion of the guilt phase. It lasted approximately two hours. The State offered the testimony of a probation officer, who interviewed Herring while he was in custody, and Herring's prior armed robbery conviction. R.O.A. at 12.

In Herring's defense, Herring's other appointed counsel, J. Peyton Quarles, who had never before tried a capital case, offered only the testimony of Herring's mother. R.O.A. at 13. Her testimony, and thus Herring's case, lasted only a few minutes and constitutes but three pages of transcript. The jury thereafter returned an advisory sentence of death by an eight-to-four vote. R.O.A.

at 13. The trial judge followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Herring to death on March 1, 1982. R.O.A. at 13.

The trial judge found that four aggravating circumstances and two mitigating circumstances applied and that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances. <u>Id</u>. The aggravating circumstances found by the trial judge were:

(1) That the defendant had been previously convicted of another capital offense or a felony involving the use or threat of violence to some person;

(2) That the crime for which the defendant was to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of the crime of robbery;

(3) That the crime for which the defendant was to be sentenced was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody; and

(4) That the crime for which defendant was to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. R.O.A. at 13-14.

The two mitigating circumstances found by the trial judge were:

(1) The age of the defendant (19) at the time of

the crime; and

(2) The defendant's difficult childhood, <u>i.e.</u>, that the defendant was raised essentially without a father, that he was hyperactive, had learning disabilities, and had trouble in school. R.O.A. at 14.

2. <u>State Post-Conviction Proceedings</u>

Herring appealed to this Court, which affirmed his conviction and sentence on February 2, 1984, and denied rehearing on April 11, 1984. The decision is reported as <u>Herring v. State</u>, 446 So. 2d 1049 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 469 U.S. 989, 83 L. Ed.2d 330, 105 S. Ct. 396 (1984) ("<u>Herring</u> <u>I</u>").

On April 1, 1985, Herring filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence pursuant to Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure in the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Volusia County, Florida. On July 24, 1985, the Circuit Court denied the motion. No evidentiary hearing was held. Herring appealed to this Court, which affirmed the Circuit Court's decision on December 30, 1986, and denied rehearing on March 2, 1987. The decision is reported as <u>Herring v. State</u>, 501 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 1986) ("<u>Herring II</u>").

On March 9, 1987, Herring filed a Petition for Writ of <u>Habeas Corpus</u> pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(3) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure in the Supreme Court of Florida. As grounds therefor, Herring claimed his appellate counsel

rendered ineffective assistance. On June 23, 1988, this Court denied relief and denied rehearing on August 25, 1988. The decision is reported as <u>Herring v. Dugger</u>, 528 So. 2d 1176 (Fla. 1988) ("Herring III").

#### 3. The Federal Petition

On September 9, 1988, Herring filed a Petition for Writ of <u>Habeas Corpus</u> (the "Federal Petition") in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. As grounds therefor, Herring claimed, among other things, that the Florida Supreme Court's decision in <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1020, 98 L. Ed.2d 681, 108 S. Ct. 733 (1988), which expressly overruled the application of the "heightened premeditation" aggravating circumstance in <u>Herring I</u>, required the vacation of Herring's death sentence.

On January 21, 1989, the State moved to dismiss the Federal Petition on the basis that Herring's claim respecting the heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance had not been exhausted in the state courts. Specifically, the State argued that:

> Since by virtue of the decision in <u>Rogers</u>, one of the aggravating factors upon which the trial court based its decision to ignore [sic] the death penalty would seem to have been eliminated in this case, the issue of whether the trial court would have, or could have, still imposed that same sentence has yet to be presented to any state court.

R.O.A. at 41.

In its motion to dismiss, the State also acknowledged that, because this Court's decision in <u>Rogers</u> followed the decision in <u>Herring II</u>, Herring could not have raised the issue of the effect of <u>Rogers</u> in his original Rule 3.850 motion. Moreover, although <u>Rogers</u> was cited to this Court in <u>Herring III</u>, the Court limited its holding to the issue of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel and expressly refused to reach the issue of the impact of <u>Rogers</u> on Herring's sentence. <u>Herring III</u>, 528 So. 2d at 1179. Accordingly, the State argued in its motion to dismiss Herring's Federal Petition:

> Although Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 does not usually permit a successive motion to be filed, nor one more than two years after the judgment and sentence have become final, there are exceptions which could possibly be met in this case, and petitioner could file another Rule 3.850 motion under the authority of <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980) and <u>Witt v. State</u>, 465 So. 2d 510 (Fla. 1985).

R.O.A. at 41-42.

٤.

On February 16, 1989, after Herring consented to the State's motion in order to raise this claim in the Florida courts, the district court dismissed the Federal Petition without prejudice. <u>Herring v. Dugger</u>, Case No. 88-791-CIV-ORL-18 (M.D. Fla. Feb. 16, 1989); R.O.A. at 45.

4. Posture Of This Appeal

On March 9, 1989, Herring filed a Motion to Vacate

Sentence pursuant to Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure in the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Volusia County, Florida. R.O.A. at 1. As grounds therefor, Herring claimed that the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Rogers v. State required the vacation of Herring's death sentence. On May 25, 1989, the Circuit Court denied the motion but granted Herring leave to amend his Rule 3.850 motion to assert a claim based upon appointed trial counsel's undisclosed conflict of interest. R.O.A. at 100. The amended motion was filed on June 14, 1989 and denied by the Circuit Court on November 5, 1989. R.O.A. The Circuit Court did not grant Herring an 102, 220. evidentiary hearing or leave to take discovery. Rehearing was denied on November 30, 1989, and the instant appeal was filed on December 19, 1989. R.O.A. at 232, 233.

#### ARGUMENT

I.

THE ERRONEOUS APPLICATION OF THE HEIGHTENED PREMEDITATION AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE REQUIRES VACATION OF HERRING'S DEATH SENTENCE

A. The Heightened Premeditation Aggravating Circumstance Was Applied In Violation Of The Eighth And Fourteenth Amendments

Herring I has now been explicitly overruled by <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 526, 533 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1020, 98 L. Ed.2d 681, 108 S. Ct. 733 (1988) ("Since we conclude that 'calculation' consists of a careful plan or prearranged design, we recede from our holding in <u>Herring [I]</u>, to the extent it dealt with this question."); <u>see Herring III</u>, 528 So. 2d at 1178 ("Since our decision in <u>Herring [I]</u>, this Court, in <u>Rogers v. State</u>, adopted Justice Ehrlich's view and expressly overruled the application of this aggravating circumstance under the factual situation set forth in <u>Herring [I]</u>.") (citations omitted). <u>Rogers</u> and <u>Herring III</u> confirm that Herring is now entitled to relief on the merits of this claim.

> 1. The Application Of The Heightened Premeditation Aggravating Circumstance To The Facts Of This Case Was An Aberration In Florida Capital Jurisprudence

The ninth aggravating circumstance enumerated in Florida's capital sentencing statute is that:

[t]he capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

Fla. Stat. Ann. § 921.141(5)(i) (West Supp. 1984) (the "heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance").

At the time Herring was sentenced to death, Florida case law clearly defined the scope of this aggravating circumstance. It was restricted to circumstances in which the degree of premeditation is shown to be greater than that necessary to establish premeditation for conviction in the guilt/innocence phase of a capital felony trial. See Preston v. State, 444 So. 2d 939 (Fla. 1984) (citing cases). It applies only to cases in which "the facts show a particularly lengthy, methodic, or involved series of atrocious events or a substantial period of reflection and thought by the perpetrator." Id. at 946. Consequently, "[p]roof of this aggravating circumstance requires a showing of a state of mind beyond that of the ordinary premeditation required for a first degree murder conviction." Maxwell v. State, 443 So. 2d 967, 971 (Fla. 1983); accord Washington v. State, 432 So. 2d 44, 48 (Fla. 1983) ("[t]his aggravating circumstance inures to the benefit of the defendant insofar as it requires proof beyond that necessary to prove premeditation"); Combs v. State, 403 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 984, 72 L. Ed.2d 862, 102 S. Ct. 2258 (1982).

In this case, there was no evidence of a preconceived plan to commit a murder. Nor does the record contain any evidence of "a particularly lengthy, methodic, or involved series of atrocious events or a substantial period of reflection and thought by the perpetrator." <u>Preston</u>, 444 So. 2d at 946. On the contrary, the homicide here was a spontaneous event which occurred quickly and thoughtlessly. Nothing in this case suggests premeditation, heightened or otherwise. Herring undertook to rob a convenience store, as he had done on prior occasions. In his confession, the product of eight hours of interrogation by the police, he

stated that the clerk's sudden movement caused him to panic and fire his gun. He stated that he shot the clerk "by mistake," "out of fear," and in response to what he perceived to be a threatening movement by the clerk. R.O.A. at 10-11; <u>cf. Cannady v. State</u>, 427 So. 2d 723, 730 (Fla. 1983) ("[t]hese statements establish that [the defendant] had at least a pretense of a moral or legal justification, protecting his own life"). The State offered no evidence that contradicted Herring's version of the shooting. There is thus no evidence of reflection. The evidence demonstrates that the gun was fired reflexively, as a spontaneous reaction rather than a planned act.

Moreover, there was no evidence that the homicide was preconceived. In fact, the record shows that the contrary was the case. In confessing to the crime for which he was sentenced to death, Herring also confessed to four other armed robberies in which no one was hurt and his gun was never fired. This refusal to use his gun in these other cases demonstrates forcefully that he had no intention of using it in the present case, and that he did so only as a responsive act.

The heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance has been held <u>inapplicable</u> to cases in which the evidence established that the victim was killed "intentionally and deliberately," but nothing more. <u>Maxwell</u>,

443 So. 2d at 971. Rather, this "aggravating circumstance ordinarily applies in those murders which are characterized as executions or contract murders." <u>McCray v. State</u>, 416 So. 2d 804, 807 (Fla. 1982). Although this Court in <u>McCray</u> also observed that "that description is not intended to be all-inclusive," <u>id</u>., nothing in any case construing Section 921.141(5)(i) -- save one, <u>Herring I</u> -- suggests that this aggravating circumstance is applicable to any capital felony case unless there is substantial evidence that the killer first devised a plan to commit the murder and thereafter put that plan into effect.

Numerous cases construing Section 921.141(5)(i) prior and subsequent to Herring's direct appeal have rejected the applicability of this aggravating circumstance to facts which show far more "lengthy, methodic or involved . . . atrocious events" and in which there was a far more "substantial period of reflection and thought by the perpetrator" than was established here. See, e.g., Preston, 444 So. 2d at 945 (heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance held inapplicable where, after robbing a convenience store, the murderer kidnapped the store clerk, forced her to walk a mile and a half at knifepoint, after which the murderer cut the clerk's throat "by severing the jugular veins, trachea and main arteries of the neck," stabbed the victim numerous times about her body, and cut a cross mark into her forehead); White v. State, 446 So. 2d

1031 (Fla. 1984) (heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance held inapplicable where the evidence established that defendant had robbed a convenience store, in the course of which he shot and killed a customer; shot the store clerk twice, paralyzing him permanently from the neck down; and attempted to shoot two other persons who came into the store); Blanco v. State, 452 So. 2d 520, 526 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1181, 83 L. Ed.2d 953, 105 S. Ct. 940 (1985) (although defendant, while committing a burglary, shot the victim six times after the victim had fallen from his first shot, Florida Supreme Court concluded "there was no showing of heightened premeditation beyond a reasonable doubt necessary to the proper application of this factor"); Hamblen v. State, 527 So. 2d 800, 805 (Fla. 1988) (heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance held inapplicable where "the evidence [did] not indicate that [the defendant] had a conscious intention of killing [the victim] when he decided" to commit the robbery); Garron v. State, 528 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 1988) (heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance held inapplicable where killing of stepdaughter appeared to have been a "spontaneous reaction").\* The

(Footnote continued on next page)

 <sup>&</sup>lt;u>See also McCray</u>, 416 So. 2d at 805 (heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance held inapplicable where the murderer first stole several boxes of rifles

decision reached in Herring's direct appeal was, and remains, a solitary aberration in the construction of the heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance.

A noteworthy example of how the Florida courts have, with the sole exception of <u>Herring I</u>, consistently applied the heightened premeditation aggravating circumstance can be

(Footnote continued from previous page)

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