IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TED HERRING,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,209

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

DC =

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #410519
210 N. Palmetto Ave.
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Herring argues that although Florida law clearly defined the scope of CCP when he was sentenced to death, there was no evidence of a preconceived plan to commit a murder even under that definition (Initial brief at 12). He attempts to raise an issue which was raised on direct appeal, the first 3.850 motion and appeal therefrom, and in the habeas petition under the rubric of ineffective assistance of counsel. Not only is this issue procedurally barred, it is an abuse of process. Certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme Court on November 5, 1984. The first 3.850 motion was filed April 1, 1985. The second 3.850 motion was filed March 9, 1989, well beyond the two-year limit provided in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. not shown that 1) the facts upon which the claim is predicated were unknown, or 2) the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the applicable time period and has been held to apply retroactively. Bundy v. State, 538 So.2d 445, 447 (Fla. 1989). Therefore, this claim is barred by the two year rule. Since the validity of the CCP aggravating factor raised in prior post-conviction motions, reassertion of the claim is an abuse of process. Bundy, supra, Furthermore, Herring overlooks the robbery note which at 447. he intended to shoot the convenience store indicates that employee if he did not cooperate. Even under the current definition of CCP, evidence that a person takes a weapon to the scene and intends to shoot if the victim does not cooperate is sufficient to apply the CCP aggravating circumstance. State, 15 FLW S165 (Fla. March 22, 1990). See also, Swafford v.

State, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988); Eutzy v. State, 458 So.2d 756
(Fla. 1984); Routly v. State, 440 So.2d 1257 (Fla 1983).

Herring also attempts to re-argue proportionality. He again argues <u>Caruthers v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 496 (Fla. 1985), which was specifically rejected by this court in <u>Herring v. State</u>, 501 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 1986). He then argues that he is in a "class of one on death row" since CCP has never been applied under facts resembling his case (Initial brief at 19). These claims are procedurally barred since they either were or could have been raised on direct appeal and subsequent post-conviction motions. Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989).

Herring next argues that although Florida's capital has been upheld as constitutional, sentencing scheme aggravating circumstances are not applied consistently, citing 356 Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. (1988).Maynard is inapplicable to Florida's death penalty sentencing. Brown v. State, 15 FLW 165 (Fla. March 22, 1990). Herring also cites Proffitt v. Wainwright, 685 F.2d 1227 (11th Cir. 1982), regarding application of the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating This factor was not found in Herring's case. Moreover, any issue regarding arbitrary and capricious review should have been raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred. Correll 15 FLW S147, 149 n.5 (Fla. March v. Dugger, 16, Furthermore, the United States Supreme Court found in Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 258 (1976) that the Florida capital sentencing was designed to assure the death penalty would not be applied capriciously.

Herring next claims he is entitled to a new sentencing hearing because the trial court considered an improper This argument is without merit since no aggravating factor. aggravating factor was improperly considered, and even if it were, the sentence of death would remain. See Clemons v. Mississippi, 4 F.L.W. Fed. S224 Case No. 88-6873 (March 28, In <u>Herring v. Dugger</u>, 528 So.2d 1176, 1178-79 (Fla. 1990). 1988), Herring challenged the effectiveness of appellate counsel for failing to prevail on the cold and calculated aggravating This court rejected that claim, finding not circumstance issue. only that counsel's performance was not deficient, but also that there was no showing that the alleged deficiency would have changed the outcome. The state submits that implicit in this court's ruling was the ruling that even if the CCP factor were stricken the death penalty is appropriate where there are three weighty aggravating factors arquable statutory and one mitigating factor, age; and nonstatutory mitigation that Herring had a difficult childhood. Even if an aggravating factor is stricken, the death penalty should be imposed. See Rogers v. State, 511 so.2d 526 (Fla. 1987); Rivera v. State, 545 So.2d 864 (Fla. 1989); Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1984); Jackson v. State, 530 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1988). This is particularly true where age is not necessarily a mitigating factor, Lamb v. State, 532 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1988), and the nonstatutory mitigating factors do not mitigate the crime. See Rogers, supra at 534. The trial court found that the mitigation was not sufficient to block imposition of the death penalty where a defendant with a

prior violent felony conviction murders an innocent clerk during a robbery so the clerk will not testify against him. Error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and would not change the trial court's opinion. Rogers, supra at 535; State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Next Herring argues that the trial court misread Eutzy and accepted arguments the state is procedurally barred from raising. What Herring would have the trial court do is conduct proportionality analysis and compare other cases to his. Rogers, this court stated that they were "receding" from Herring, not that they were "overruling" his conviction. See also, Amoros, Rutherford, supra. Although Herring now cites Herring v. State, 528 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1988), to support his argument that this court should strike CCP from his sentence, the discussion in this case involved whether counsel was ineffective for failing to convince more justices that CCP was an inappropriate aggravating This court said that they had overruled the application of CCP in a "factual situation" such as Herring's, not that they would overrule the application of CCP in his case. fact, the court specifically declined to address the retroactivity issue. Eutzy and Harich are controlling, Herring cannot circumvent this court's established rule by saying his case is unique because his case is mentioned in Rogers. Herring is no more entitled to retroactive relief than are Eutzy and Harich. Since Herring was cited as the definition of CCP in subsequent cases, it was logical the court would mention that case as containing the definition it was narrowing, rather than

applied. See Griffin v. State, 474 So.2d 777 (Fla. 1985); Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 195 (Fla. 1985); Cooper v. State, 492 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1986); Kokal v. State, 492 So.2d 1317 (Fla. 1986). Simply because Herring's name was mentioned does not mean his case was specifically singled out for Rogers to be applied retroactively since all other cases have not merited retroactive application. If the definition of CCP in Herring was applied as a rule of law and the court was refining that rule, then it is only logical they would mention it by name.

Herring again argues that his case was a mistake when decided, which argument is procedurally barred. He also takes issue with the fact that Rogers recognized that CCP was wrongly applied in the first place and that Eutzy did not address that question. Basically, what he is saying is that this court should reconsider its decisions in his cases for the past six years, ignore the procedural bar, and decide this case on the merits. He also argues that CCP was applied consistently before Rogers, except to him (Initial brief at 26). Again, this court should not be asked to conduct a proportionality review six years after its decision on direct appeal in which such a review was done. In <u>Herring v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1049, 1057 (Fla. 1984), this court compared the cases of Hargrave v. State, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1978), and Meeks v. State, 339 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1976), in upholding Herring's death sentence as compared to similar robbery-murders.

Herring's final argument is that the state either waived or is estopped from asserting procedural default since in its

response to Herring's federal habeas petition the state pointed out that Herring may not have exhausted state remedies. The state was correct that this claim had never been presented in a This was not done in bad faith or to frustrate been decided. efforts, since Eutzy had not Herring's Furthermore, the statement that the state successfully obtained a dismissal of the federal habeas petition is misleading since Herring filed a response saying he did not object to the dismissal without prejudice since he could raise his claim in Neither he nor the state could anticipate the state court. decision in Eutzy. As stated in Rule 3.850, a successive motion may be filed more than two years after the judgment and sentence are final when a fundamental constitutional right could be applied retroactively. At the time the habeas petition was uncertain whether Rogers could be applied filed. it was retroactively since this court declined to address the issue in Herring v. Dugger, 528 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1988). In fact, Eutzy 3.850 motion. decided after Herring filed his second Herring's habeas petition was dismissed without prejudice. state did not waive any claim in state court by presenting the current status of the case to the federal courts.

ΙI

HOWARD PEARL WAS NOT A DULY CONSTITUTED DEPUTY SHERIFF BUT ONLY AN "HONORARY" OR "SPECIAL" DEPUTY WHICH STATUS CREATES NO CONFLICT OF INTEREST, AND THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

Herring contends that in Harich v. Dugger, 542 So.2d 980, (Fla. this Howard court recognized that Pearl's simultaneous service in the dual capacities of law enforcement officer and defense counsel made out a prima facie case of ineffective assistance of counsel. Herring recognizes that Judge Foxman was the judge in both this case and Harich, and that he conducted an evidentiary hearing on the latter case involving this issue. However, he contends that it was error for the judge to summarily dismiss his motion on the basis of the factual findings in Harich because this was an improper application of collateral estoppel. If Herring had been informed of Mr. Pearl's status, he would have insisted on different counsel. does Mr. Pearl's status presumptively establish that Herring was denied effective assistance of counsel, but it also violates Florida statutes which prohibit a sheriff or deputy to practice law and which prohibit dual office holding. The undisclosed conflict of interest supposedly prejudiced Herring because Mr. Pearl failed to cross-examine numerous witnesses, bolstered the testimony of law enforcement witnesses, failed to effectively cross-examine law enforcement witnesses, and failed to prepare a defense. Finally, Herring alleges he is entitled to evidentiary hearing because there are a number of critical factual issues which remain unresolved. Because Harich dispositive of the issue, Herring claims he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. Herring also claims that the trial court erred in finding he was estopped from presenting evidence in support of his claim merely because the same factual assertions

and legal argument were presented to, and rejected by, the trial court after an evidentiary hearing in Harich.

Judge Foxman summarily denied this issue because the motion relied entirely upon the same factual assertions and legal argument presented to, and rejected by, the same court after an evidentiary hearing in State v. Harich, Case No. 81-1894-BB, Seventh Judicial Circuit Court for Volusia County. The judge noted that Herring incorporated the Harich motion as well as the appendices in support of that motion and merely restated the factual allegations of Harich. There were no new factual allegations or legal argument presented on this issue which was being "regurgitated" by every capital defendant represented by Howard Pearl, Assistant Public Defender. He denied relief for the same reasons outlined in Harich and attached a copy of the Harich order (ROA 220). The court also found that Herring duplicated the substantive allegations raised in Harich, and the court's factual and legal conclusions controlled, especially given the lack of any additional factual allegations. that he had already fully and fairly litigated the issues, and Mr. Pearl was not a regular deputy but was a "special" or "honorary" deputy for the sole purpose of carrying a firearm (ROA 220-221).

Judge Foxman also found that the 3.850 motion was a successive petition, and all challenges of ineffective assistance should have been raised in the first 3.850 motion. He noted that Mr. Pearl's honorary deputy status was no secret and could have been easily discovered at the time of trial or any time

thereafter. The allegations of conflict of interest were disguised attempts to relitigate ineffective assistance claims which were barred by the two-year rule. See, Woods v. State, 531 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1988). Alternatively, the judge found that the ineffectiveness claims intertwined with the conflict of interest claims all failed because they could only be considered based on the same actual conflict of interest claim rejected in Harich where the court said there was no conflict (ROA 220-221).

The order from the evidentiary hearing in <u>Harich</u> shows the hearing spanned a one-week period and contains a detailed synopsis of the legal and factual issues presented (ROA 223-226). The Harich order conclusively shows that not only is this issue procedurally barred, but it is without merit. The trial court was correct in denying Herring's motion without an evidentiary hearing.

Herring relies on <u>Harich v. Dugger</u>, 542 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1989), to support his theory that he, too, is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. However, in that case this court ordered an evidentiary hearing to determine whether Mr. Pearl's relationship affected his ability to provide effective legal assistance, observing that it was possible this issue could not have been discovered through due diligence. <u>Harich</u>, 542 So.2d at 981. Judge Foxman, the same judge in Herring, determined that Mr. Pearl's honorary status did not affect his abilities and that the issue could have been discovered with due diligence since his status was common knowledge (ROA 220-226). In fact the head of the capital appeals section in the Public Defender's office which

prepared Herring's direct appeal was aware of Mr. Pearl's status (ROA 226). Herring wants Judge Foxman to conduct another evidentiary hearing on the same facts and same issues after he spent one full week involved with this meritless claim. The concerns expressed in <u>Harich v. Dugger</u> 542 So.2d at 981, were addressed by the judge and there would be no purpose in requiring him to spend another week in hearings for the sake of entering an identical order on Herring's motion which is identical to Harich's.

The ineffective assistance of counsel claims contained in Herring's motion are procedurally barred since they should have been raised within the two-year time limit for filing a 3.850 Spaziano v. Dugger, 15 FLW S 151 (Fla. March 15, 1990). motion. Where an initial motion for post-conviction relief raises the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the trial court may summarily deny successive motions raising additional grounds for that ineffectiveness. Spaziano v. State, 545 So.2d 843 (Fla. 1989); Christopher v. State, 489 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1986). Further, instances of alleged ineffectiveness involve tactical decisions which should not be second-guessed. Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1989). Herring has shown neither deficient performance nor prejudice as required by Strickland Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

 that the issues and motions were identical, he had already held a full hearing on the same issue, and his decision was the same.

Judge Foxman made a factual finding in <u>Harich</u> that Howard Pearl's status was common knowledge. This issue could have been easily raised on appeal. Because this issue could have been easily discovered, the concerns this court had in <u>Harich v. Dugger</u> were resolved by Judge Foxman's finding. Therefore, this issue is procedurally barred under the two-year rule.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, appellee respectfully prays this honorable court affirm the order denying post conviction relief.